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   C Company (Old ‘F’ & ‘G’ Coy.)
   2/1 Northern Cyclist Batt.
   A Memoir
   Preface
      After leaving the good old 2/1 N.C.B., I thought so often of   all you splendid 
   cheery fellows who made up C Company, the   Company with which I was most concerned 
   and latterly had the honour to command. I have wondered so much what happened
   to   you all when the Battalion was gradually split up into   drafts to go to other units. 
   (I would that we could all have gone out together!). I thought at first that it would 
   be impossible to ever find out; but I determined to have a shot at it. I thought that
   if I could hear of sufficient to make it worthwhile I should print a little record and 
   send it round to as many addresses as I had; for I thought that you, too, would like 
   to know what happened to your old pals and that the record might put old friends in 
   touch with one another again. There is nothing so cheering as a letter from an old 
   friend, is there? I started to do this last autumn (1919), but it took far more writing 
   than I ever expected, and all had to be done in odd moments, which with me this last 
   year have been very few. I was forced for a time to give it up until I had passed 
   my examinations here (Oxford).  At last I have got it ready. I must ask your for-

   giveness for being so long. I have not heard from, or of, nearly all the fellows, but I 
   think the present record is better than nothing. I hope that any who are not in-

   cluded will write to me, for if I get news of ten or more I will have a supplementary 
   sheet printed and sent round. In some cases I have just heard that men are back, 
   but I have no details from them; in these cases I have just put down their name 
   and address if I knew it. The many letters I have received I have read with great 
   pleasure and some with sorrow. . . .  Of the Glorious Dead I am not worthy 
   to write. . . . Those dear gallant fellows – we will never forget them.
     There is only one thing I personally thank the war for – that is, that it brought 
   me into contact with you.

     One of the old Company from West Hartlepool writes: “I think, and no doubt 
   you will agree, that although our work and pockets have been hard hit by the war, we 
   have gained a priceless experience of our fellowmen of all classes and conditions and 
   a much wider conception of comradeship and all that it means.” He has expressed 
   what I hope most of us feel. I hope I shall not only remember you, but may still 
   know you, and that you will regard me no longer as an officer, but as a real friend. I 
   shall always be very pleased indeed to have a letter from you, and I hope in the near 
   future to come north and see many of you again. I should like to arrange an annual  

   C Company re-union- we must certainly have one soon.
      Colonel Garrett, O.B.E., has sent us a most kind message, and R.Q.M.S. McConnell 
   has written a most interesting history of the Company. I must heartily thank these 
   and all for what they have written and regret, through lack of space, having to 
   abbreviate in a few cases some of the splendid accounts sent to me.

     The best of good wishes to you all.

     A.C. Hardy 
     40 Harlow Moor Drive,
     Harrogate.
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   A Message from Colonel F.C. Garrett,

    O.B.E., D.Sc.

      When the war ended I hoped to produce a book that should contain a full record 
   of the doings and fate of the men of our incomparable Battalion, but the difficulties 
   proved to be too great. I am very glad that C Company has done its part, and con-

   gratulate the Company and its Commander on its success. We were denied our 
   ambition to go to France as a unit, but the Battalion did great things; to have served 
   with it was an honour, and when I say that there was no better Company than C 
   you realise that I am paying you a great compliment, and you know that I express 
   my real opinion. I watched you at Bamburgh; I knew you on the coast; when you 
   went overseas I followed your doings as closely as I was able. I had many reports 
   from Commanding Officers and others, and never one that did not increase my pride 
   at having commanded such men.

      Some did not return; of them one can only say with Sir Richard Grenville: 

   “If thou art brought back with all thy wounds in front I shall weep for thy mother, 
   but shall have never a tear for thee.”  For what better fate would one wish?

      Too many have returned broken in health or injured in body or fortune and may 
   never be the same men again; for such the knowledge that we served – that we did 
   our duty – is sufficient, and there need be no grumbling because the cost is great.

      To everyone I would say this - we were not conscripts; when England and the 
   world were in dire peril we were among the first to cast away all things and offer 
   ourselves for service; through weary years on the East Coast Patrol and the 
   terrible months in the fighting line the men of the Northern – the unequalled Mud-

   guards – made themselves a great name; now that we are no longer in the Army let 
   us continue to serve England as loyally, never thinking of our selfish interests, but 
   striving always for the good of the community without counting the cost.

      What the Q.M.S. tells is true – it was my desire to be a father to the Battalion;
   I was interested in every man in it, and I must own to a peculiar liking for some of 
   our so-called “black sheep”; please remember that, and that I shall always be 
   glad to hear from any one of you.
      F.C. Garrett
      West Croft, Hexham
   ------------
   A Message from Captain H.E. Betts
      As the first Commander of C Company, I need hardly say how pleased I am to 
   send a few words to my old “boys.”

      Now that you are all settling down in civil life, if you will support your present 
   employers in the same loyal way that you backed me up during the war, I am more 
   than confident that you will make as good a name for yourselves in peace, as you 
   had in the old army days.

      Remember our old motto “Work hard and play hard,” and you won’t go far 
   wrong in life.

      The very best of luck to you all.

      Harry E. Betts
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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   Short History of ‘C’ (and Old ‘F’) 
   Coy., 2/1 Northern Cyclist Batt.
   (From Memory)
   By
   E.H.M. McConnell, Ex R.Q.M.S., 2/1 N.C.B.
   ------------
      The following lines are not intended to be confined to the experiences of the 
   writer, but more as a short history of  F, and, as time goes on of C Company, 
   of the one and only 2/1 N.C.B. After the great war had been raging about two 
   months, the authorities decided to form a second line of the Northern Cyclist Battalion. 
   The first line had done very well as Territorials, and were put on coast defence, 
   but of their doings I am not at present concerned.
      So that in October, 1914, recruiting commenced for the second line. A 
   and B Companies were formed at Newcastle; C and D at Blyth;  E and F at 
   Ashington; G and H at Berwick-on-Tweed. In those days the Cyclists were on the
   8 Company System.

      F Company trained at Ashington. Before I dwell on the achievements of F 
   Company I want to mention our instructors, whose qualifications were beyond doubt.

   2nd Lieut. F. Dakyus was Officer–in-Charge, and afterwards became Captain, 
   and served on the training staff of the Machine Gun Corps, Grantham, and later on 
   the staff of the School of Musketry, Strensall.

      Sergt. Ins. J.D. Hall (now deceased) became Regt.S.-M of the 2/1st N.C.B., 
   previously spent nine months as Sergt.-Major of Leeds University O.T.C., and 
   Sergt.-Bugler J.D. Walton became R.S.M. of the 1st line N.C.B. The training and 
   discipline went down, perhaps, a little hard at first, especially as the majority of our 
   men were miners. Not to suggest that miners were immune from discipline, but one 
   must admit army discipline is somewhat different from industrial discipline, and many 
   a good laugh we have had when we recall some of the expressions of the victims 
   after being Hands Down for about ten minutes, and then got twenty times 
   by the front, perspiration streaming down our faces. Still the instructor would 
   shout, “Keep that back straight there, So-and-So,” and remarks with similar meanings.

   Of course when the Stand easy came (oh, yes, we sometimes got Stand Easy!), then 
   came the language, but under D.O.R.A. I am forbidden to repeat them.

      However, we stuck it, and, in time got used to the life.

      Soon we got Mr. S. Renwick, who took over F. Company, and he took to us and 
   we to him, which means something in the Army.

      After about two months training it was found necessary to promote several 
   N.C.O’s, and eventually four Corporals and four Lance-Corporals were appointed.

      Teddy Tyrell, Sammy Mayberry, Harry Crawford and the writer were to be 
   full Corporals. Jack Wilkes, Billy Dykes, Luke Murphy and Bill Garbutt, Lance-
   Corporals. So now great things were expected. When we were first formed and up 
   to about this time we were under the supervision of the 1st line, commanded by 
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   Lieut.-Colonel Collis. But now we got a C.O. of our own in the person of Lieut.-
   Col. F.C. Garrett, who commanded 2/1st with distinction until early 1918, and 
   for his good work he was awarded the O.B.E.

      December 14th brought us rumours that we were going to Bamburgh, famous 
   for its castle and as the home of Grace Darling. Sure enough, rumours became 
   facts, for on January 18th, 1915, we concentrated at Bamburgh. Half the Battalion 
   took over the Castle as a billet, and half the wooden village and Red Barns Farm, in 
   which three sections of F Company were quartered. Many are the tales I could spin 
   about Bamburgh and our stay there, if only space would allow. Many of us were 
   still in civvies; uniform was scarce in the early days of the war, and we wore red 
   bands on our right arm, with the letters N.C.B., which was interpreted “No Clothes   

   Brigade.” However, clothes came, and with the training we had, smarter soldiers 
   couldn’t be found anywhere. In the early days of war rumours of spies were an every
   day occurrence, and naturally our nerves were at concert pitch, and any and every 
   person who wasn’t a Northern Cyclist were looked upon with suspicion, especially 
   at night.
      Well can I remember my first experience as sergeant of the Castle Guard. To 
   be a Guard in those days was looked upon as a great honour, but I am afraid later 
   as a punishment (happy are the days of childhood). On this particular night I was 
   on the prowl outside my Guard Room when I heard footsteps, and being endowed by 
   nature with a (shall I call it) Sergt.-Major’s growl I called out “Halt, who goes 
   there?”, in such a voice as to make the foundation of the castle shudder (yes, and 
   it is on a rock). “Fri-friend,” came the reply in a frail voice. “Advance and be 
   recognised.” So up came two sea scouts (what a disappointment; I was sure they 
   were spies). “Well, and what do you want here at this time of night?” 
   I asked. “Please, sir, we have come to report lights in the Castle.” “Well, what 
   of that?” “Well, you see, sir, they are not allowed. You see if the Germans should 
   get too much wine and just happen to lose their way like, they might think the Castle 
   was ‘Heligoland,’ and that would be giving information to the enemy.” “Here’s a 
   chance,” I thought. So up I goes in company with these brave lads, and, sure enough, 
   bright lights were shining out to sea. Not being a smoker, I hadn’t a match, so had 
   to scramble about in the dark. Getting inside I shouted, “Put that light out,” but 
   no response.  No sign of life could I find, and shouting again I came outside to find 
   the lights had disappeared. Thinking I must have touched a secret, I reported the 
   matter next day. But the honour I had won at night I lost next day. I made the 
   unpardonable mistake of neglecting to turn out the Guard to the C.O. on his first 
   rounds of the day. Thinking I had lost the reputation of  F. Company, I confided in 
   Bill Lees, who was then R.S.M.  Bill consoled me with the assurance that Colonel 
   Garrett was full of forgiveness, and would treat us young soldiers, not as a Colonel of 
   the old school, but as a father. I must say I proved that statement over and over 
   again.

      Mr. Renwick, our Company Officer, got married and gave us a treat. Some night 
   that was. I can see some of the boys yet, especially Teddy Tyrrell. That night 
   when all was over (excepting swelled heads?), Mr. Renwick set out to go to the Castle 
   in his little 2 seater, which on this occasion carried about eight, and Billy Bell (C.S. of 
   G Company) behind.  Poor old Bill was dropped off and was found with his face 
   smashed up and a real picture to remind us for many days of that Saturday night.  
   Then Luke Forster ran into General Sitwell’s prize dog on his way back from Belford 
   range. Great cyclist Luke, but Luke had greater qualifications?  Then we had 
   Harper, who slept under the window at Red Barnes, and was often taken for a hedge-

   hog, for if anyone could roll into a ball whilst in bed Harper could.

      Then F Company left the Barnes and fixed up at the wooden village. About 
   this time several men from the 1st Line, including my esteemed friend, 
   McGilligan, who in days to follow, became C.Q.M.S. of C Company.

      Davie Walton, who was Colour-Sergeant of F Company, was recalled to the 1st 
   Line, and your humble became Colour-Sergeant, and was soon afterwards sent to 
   Strensall for a Musketry Course. Whilst I was at Strensall the Battalion got marching 
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   orders and on April 8th left our north country home to arrive at Saltfleet, Lincs., on 
   that notorious April 9th, 1915, which we never forgot, owing to innumerable corres-

   pondence from the Paymaster.  F Company occupied about eight billets at Saltfleet, 
   and their duties (which we never forgot) consisted of coast patrols, etc, including 
   trench manning one hour before dawn. To get all the men roused up was no mean 
   task, and usually a bugler or extra man was detailed for this purpose. His duty was 
   to get the men up at all costs, and often had to climb a spout and rattle the window. 
   If it should be open, of course, he went in and cleared the deck of blankets, whilst 
   boots and other missiles, not mentioning language, was thrown at him. But I 
   think the most exciting experience in the capacity of caller fell to the lot of our 
   Company Officer, who was now 2nd Lieut. A.C. Hardy. Receiving information to 
   the effect that section Billet 8, at White House, were absent from their post in the 
   trenches, he decided to give them a visit himself. So off to the billet he went. Each 
   step made him more determined to give them such a rouse as they had never before 
   experienced. Arriving at the billet he attempted to find the stairs (once he tried the 
   chimney). At last, worked into a state of temper most of us have experienced one 
   time or another, he got up to the first floor and, going into the first room on his right 
   feeling about in the dark for the bed, then its contents, he swished down the clothes, 
   and “Why the devil aren’t you in the trenches?”  To be frightened in one’s sleep 
   is no joke and so thought the landlady’s daughter for, sure enough, sitting up in 
   bed with her locks (forget the colour) flowing around her shapely shoulders, was none 
   other than the daughter of the billet. Of course, our O.C., who was at all times 
   the essence of civility, apologised and beat a hasty retreat. Not daring to seek further 
   he returned to the trenches to find the object of his visit to the billet had missed him 
   on the way and were at their post, while he was after their blood. He related his 
   experience to his Colour-Sergeant, who promised to keep it dark, and I assure my 
   worthy friend I have never mentioned it to a living soul (?).

      At Saltfleet our duties were varied. We made trenches, built a range, did coast 
   patrols, fired our courses (Jap carbine), had cycle runs and, taking life all round,

   our time at Saltfleet was very pleasant. It was at Saltfleet we got our fleet of 24 
   transports. We were now beginning to be established as a Cyclist Battalion. In 
   May we were equipped with 1914 leather equipment, and this put the finishing 
   touches on us. We were now real soldiers. Again rumours got afloat re another 
   move, and many were the stations suggested. At last, July, 1915, we packed up 
   our troubles and rode off to a chorus of broken-hearted sweethearts. 
      Having a night bivouacking in the open at Huttoft, we arrived at our new 
   station, Chapel St. Leonards. 

      F. Company took over Luffman’s Huts. As time went on we settled down, and 
   it was a relief to be rid of trench manning before the great red dawn appeared. Duties 
   were coast patrols and guards, and I remind my readers that F. Company 
   always got the credit for being the cleanest and smartest on guard. Of course, there was 
   often complaints from Headquarters about the noise F Company kicked up. But 
   they were unfounded for Teddy Tyrrell, Rollie Doyle, Peter Doyle, Alex.  
   Baird, Beadle, Jack Harrison, Keenlyside and many others too numerous to mention 
   were all very quiet fellows (?).

      Of course there were nights when–well? Yes, I will record one night when, 
   only dressed in their night attire (and some not that) and boots, they marched through 
   the Companion Hut in single file at three or four paces’ intervals causing the occupants 
   to have nasty nightmares, and soon a bombardment ensued. Those were the days!
      But I must get on. October 15th saw us in double companies, F and G together 
   made the famous C Company, and Captain Harry Betts was in command.  Lieut. 
   Hardy, as his 2nd.

      Our name as a famous Battalion was recognised for we were commissioned to 
   remove a 90 Horse Iron Structure Stable from Skegness to Sutton-on-Sea, and your 
   humble was put in charge. This job we carried out with satisfaction, and within 
   the allotted time so that our qualifications were wider than mere mudguards.

      Soon the new C Company went to Anderby Creek; that was about the end of 
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   November, and there we made a camp admitted to be second to none on that coast. 
   Great credit was due to officers and other ranks for the work done both at the camp 
   and the trenches there. No effort was spared, not even bathing huts, all and every-

   thing we could carry or trail went to make our section the best on the coast. Captain 
   Brown was now Second in Command to Captain Betts. We all remember Xmas, 
   1915, when our leave was stopped owing to some scare, and we again had to man the  

   trenches before dawn. That Christmas we got a cigarette case from the Colonel and 
   officers, which we all value very much. Taking everything into account, we spent a 
   very happy time at Anderby. Our duties were not too heavy, and we got lots of 
   cycle runs, not forgetting the record performed by C: -Anderby to Tattershall and 
   back same day, with full kit. C Company remained at Anderby until May 16th, 
   when we went to Boston, Headquarters being Skegness. Tommy Cook was now 
   C.S.M., the writer being promoted to R.Q.M.S. At Boston C Company’s name will 
   go down to posterity, for did not the one and only Leddy, who hailed from Berwick-

   on Tweed, whitewash every sink, and doorstep at St James’ School, whilst the re-

   mainder of the Company painted Boston red. (Happy days!)
      Whilst at Chapel, and now onwards, we were sending men out in drafts, and 
   part of the 3rd Line had come to us. Those who were not in the know wondered 
   why the 2/1 N.C.B. didn’t go out as a Battalion. But we who were in touch knew 
   that it was absolutely necessary for our men to be sent in small drafts as a stimulant 
   to the units to which they were sent!

      At Skegness we got a large number of men from other units. These were sent to 
   receive the expert training which only could be got with the 2/1st, and soon we were 
   recognised as a draft-finding unit. Colonel Garrett spared no effort to feed, clothe 
   and house these men in such a way as to make them fit for service overseas in a very 
   short time. 
      Our duties at Skegness were fairly heavy. We had a lot of patrols to find and 
   with guards and training our men were kept at it. When one remembers we had about 
   50 miles of coast to patrol and find drafts, we must admit it was a big job. Still we 
   found time for sport. At Football we ruled the roost, and it was pleasing to note at least 
   two of our forwards are playing in first-class football-Robinson, Newcastle United, 
   and Butler, Middlesboro.  Cross country running and sprints, shure we were always 
   first. 
      As for music, we again excelled ourselves. Great credit is due to C.S.M. Locker 
   for his skill in handling and teaching a band such as ours, for being a draft-finding 
   unit our bandsmen had to go when their turn came, and to commence afresh and 
   teach new men was no mean task. Yet this was done. Our experiences at Skeg-

   ness would be a history in itself, so I dare not attempt to describe all our doings. 
   We were there from May 16th to October 17th, when we went to Alford, Brigade 
   Headquarters. We had Brigade duties to do. As for recreation, we had football, 
   hockey, dances, concerts (We all remember the “Incurables”), lectures and other 
   attractions. All round, we spent a pleasant winter at Alford. The greatest loss 
   we had up to now happened at Alford, our Commanding Officer, who was 
   highly respected by all, and, may I add, more especially by the men, for they knew 
   the personal interest he took in their welfare and comfort. Owing to ill health and 
   overwork he was obliged to retire from active service, and on January 18th he left 
   us, with the knowledge that he had done his duty. Just previous to his going, he 
   got the chance of a station further north, and as we were chiefly north country men, 
   he decided to accept it, so soon after he left us we moved to Yorkshire. 
   That was on February 2nd, 1918. Headquarters was Burton Constable.  C Company 
   going to Skirlaugh. Major Harrison was in temporary command, and C Company 
   was commanded by R.K.V. White, who had taken over from Capt, A.C. Hardy 
   some months previous.  Capt. Hardy being appointed Camouflage Officer, Tyne 
   Garrison. Our duties at Burton Constable were light, so most of our time was 
   spent in training. Soon a new Colonel arrived in the person of Lieut.-Colonel E. 
   Wolfe Flannagan, who came from France.  Few of us will forget Colonel Flannagan. 
   He was a soldier of the regular school, and we soon got to know it. Inspections were 
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   an almost everyday occurrence, and, C Company, still to the front, got the palm on 
   every inspection for being cleanest and smartest. We sent out drafts almost every 
   week. Colonel Flannagan was with us about five months, and soon after we got 
   Lieut.-Colonel J.M. Gillatt also from France.  Being a Scotsman, with natural wit, 
   he was very popular, and remained with us until we were disbanded.
      Our numbers were getting low owing to drafts being sent out, and few men were 
   sent to replace, so eventually orders came to return all stores and equipment and 
   disband. January 19th saw the last of our stores returned to Ordnance to the final 
   winding up of the Battalion. This was left in the hands of Captain Moses and Mr. 
   Hammond, Adjutant and Quartermaster respectively. The writer proceeded to 
   Ripon to be demobbed on January 26th, 1919. With a record of being with the 
   Battalion longest of any officer or man, and unbroken service for four years and 142 
   days in the 2/1 Northern Cyclist Battalion.

      In conclusion I beg to say that although this short history is entirely from 
   memory, the stock of interesting experiences is far from being exhausted, and is 
   farther from being a complete history. Our object at the moment is not to compile 
   a history of the 2/1 N.C.B., but to collect a few matters of interest as a means of 
   recalling the more important ones, and live again in memory those days spent in the 
   famous Company of the famous 2/1 N.C.B.
      Personally, I am proud to know I belonged to such a Battalion. As Britishers 
   it was our duty to join some unit. But to be a member of the 2/1 N.C.B. was a privi-

   lege, and I believe this view is held by most of our men. I apologise if, in this short 
   record, I have hurt anyone’s feelings by either mentioning their name without their 
   permission or if, by leaving it out they think they are below mention. This is not so. 
   Every man who passed through the Battalion, and more especially C Company, is 
   known to me and respected. Sometimes for the moment their names fly from mind, 
   but their personality never,

      Mr A.C. Hardy, who is responsible for this scheme of Memoirs, is attempting a 
   record of each man’s service and honours.

   Many of our chums have answered the last roll-call; they have sacrificed their lives 
   for the honour and glory of our country. Yesterday they worked and played 
   beside us; today they are among the silent dead.  Heroes all. Many also have 
   returned minus limbs; others wounded in such a way as to make them less fit than 
   when they were with us. To all, the people of England offer their gratitude, and pray 
   they may be worthy of such a sacrifice.

     20 Georges Road                                                E.H. McConnell.
   Newcastle –On Tyne                                          Ex-R.Q.M.S.
                                                                              2/1 N.C.B.
   ------------  

   Honours and Decorations Won by Members of The Company
   ------------  
   Brown, Captain Vernon, O.B.E., Croce di Guerra.  Mentioned in Despatches.

   Angles, 2nd Lieut. Robert, M.C. (Died of wounds)

   McLeod, Cyclist James, M.M.

   Robson, Cyclist, G.H., M.M.

   Stephenson, Cyclist Fred, M.M.

   ------------     
   Records of Service
  ------------
      AIREY, William, 1 Nelson Street, Chester-le-Street.  Enlisted January 9th, 
   1915.  Played football for the Company. Promoted to rank of Sergeant. Proceeded 
   overseas April 12th, 1918. Served with the Tyneside Scottish (35th Division), and 
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   later with 1st N.F. (3rd “Iron” Division). Wounded August 25th, 1918. De-

   mobbed January 1st, 1919.

  ------------
      ANDERSON, David D., 63 Hunters Road, Spittal Tongues, Newcastle-on Tyne. 
   Enlisted in N.C.B. February 1st, 1915. He sends me the following splendid account 
   of his service :-
      Battalion Bomber – First volunteered for overseas at Anderby Creek, carried 
   on till I left Battalion, July, 1917. Gained marksmanship at Skeg, but was beat by 
   Weatherburn, C Company for Battalion Star, though had a good time training rookies 
   on range at Gibraltar Point. Won medal which I still have for Lines Coast Defence 
   cross country run at Alford; ninth man home; distance 5-6 miles, 300 to 400 
   runners. Not so bad considering no training.

      July 19th, 1917 – On draft for N.F. Joined them at Etaples base. Had four 
   days in Bull Ring, and considered efficient. Spent about a fortnight there, then was 
   drafted to 1/6 Lancashire Fusiliers at Gommecourt.
      Bullecourt – Had week or two there, then marched to Bouzincourt, next 
   to Albert.  Red hot weather, men cracking up all along route. All Northerners 
   stuck it well. Marched from there to some other place, and entrained for Belgium. 
   Did a bit of training on Lewis gun behind line, then marched to Poperinghe and trained 
   up to Ypres into bivies, half a mile off the ruins. First experience of Fritz’s long-

   range guns. Very hot. After a couple of days the order to go up the line 
   that night. Set off in the dark and marched single file up through Ypres on the 
   notorious Menin road. Our fellows bombarding Fritz.  Batteries wheel to wheel. 
   Hellish din. Lost all hearing in my right ear for a while; could hardly distinguish 
   Jerry’s shells coming and our shells going. Then came up to “Hell Fire Corner.” 
   True to name. Mules dancing about the road mad with fright. R.F.A. men clinging 
   to them for dear life. One of Jerry’s heavies burst 20 or 30 yards on our left with 
   an awful  crash. You fancy men, mere boys some of ours were, up in all that for 
   their first time, truly their baptism of fire; then one looks at the huddled forms at 
   the side of the road lying beside the horses they cared for; their troubles are over; 
   the screaming shells no longer rack their nerves. Now the duck boards, the H.L.I. 
   were coming out of the line, and as we passed them I said to one chap – it was an 
   old saying we had – “They tell me there’s a war on up here, is that right?” But 
   he never answered. Maybe it was the shell that came screeching overhead at that 
   moment that stopped him, or maybe he was thinking about Hell Fire Corner, which 
   he had to pass further down the road, or what remained of it, on his way back to 
   sleep and rest. About half a mile of duck boards – it’s a good job they were there – 
   one could hardly swim with a pack on. Then reserves and Company Headquarters 
   in a Jerry block house, and the awful stench – one didn’t glance twice at those khaki 
   forms lying in the shell holes and mud on either side, to lie unburied – no time. 
   Already Jerry’s machine guns were clattering. Every now and then a hoarse cry,
    “Make way for the wounded,” and we stood with one leg in the mud till they passed, 
   white and breathless and smeared with red. Then, close to the front line, Jerry was 
   putting star lights up as soon as one died down. They almost seemed to come right 
   over to us or within a few yards. What remained of an aeroplane lay in front of us 
   nose in the ground; then a tank half buried in mud, with its toll of brave men lying 
   around; some lay almost naked, the tank men; its door stood open, but no one 
   looked inside – no need. We knew what lay there. Anyway, it was death to linger. 
   The front line Lewis gunners forward, so I pulled myself together and stumbled 
   forward with my other five comrades and scrambled down into our position, a Jerry 
   block house, one of their small ones, so we stuck the gun up and made ourselves as   

   comfortable as possible.

      Night passed with its small events to four in the morning, Jerry’s time for 
   straffing, and straff he did for – well, I could not tell you how long, but it seemed an 
   eternity – then silence for ten minutes, and then our boys did the straffing and Jerry’s 
   was only a side show compared with it; his lines were one mass of smoke and flame. 
   Then daylight and a good view of No Man’s Land. There was a big block house 
   next to us unoccupied; it was smashed some. It was the remains of a battle in 
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   which the Irish Division were badly cut up. A Jerry lay in front of it. I could tell 
   by his jack boots, and I could see the putteed leg of one of the Irish lads sticking 
   out of the shell hole full of mud, a matter of 3 yards in front; a mule lay behind us 
   with its feet sticking in the air. Why, the stink of that place haunted me for fully a month  

   after I was captured.

      This big block house was full of dead Germans and Irishmen, all laid out, so 
   no one ever went inside it at night, and the Jerry snipers had the doorway marked 
   through the day, as the occasional crack of his bullet striking the concrete told us. 
   The afternoon of the day we were to be relieved Jerry put a shell, 4.5, right beside us. 
   He had been trying for our place all day, and when I heard this one coming something 
   told me that it was going to be closer than the others. Well, it wasn’t a dud, and when 
   the smoke and the shouting had died down we had two men wounded and the shape of 
   our position altered a bit. Our Company went out that night with only two casualties 
   and a few wounded, and back to our bivies and a good feed. Well, that was my first 
   time up at Ypres, and I don’t forget it. We went over the top a few days after at 
   the same place (Zilliebeck Lake), on the left of the Menin road, seven in the morning, 
   on a Wednesday, 6th of September, and all that remained of B Company Lancashire 
   Fusiliers by night time was eight of us, covered with mud, yes, and blood, stumbling 
   wearily along a Belgium road yon side of the German lines with a Uhlan riding 
   in front and one behind. Yes, we were still advancing; in fact, we advanced as far 
   as Northern Germany, much to the our regret, though lucky to be alive, and one consola-

   tion was that, at the same time as we were trudging along, there was about forty 
   square heads trudging along as well, the lot that we captured that very morning about 
   nine o’clock in a block house called Bek House, one of our objectives.

      Well, I could tell you more of over the top stunt, with a few details about a 
   prison camp in Deutschland.  I had about sixteen months of it, and got back last 
   New Year’s Day to good old Blighty. I am in good health and not much the worse 
   for my experiences. There was only one other N.C.B. captured that day, and I did 
   not see him till after the Armistice at a head camp – Guströw. He was badly wounded, 
   His name was Jeffries, an old B Company lad.
   ------------

      ANDREW, Harold C.,93 Grange Road, West Hartlepool.  Came to C Company 
   from the 1/1 N.C.B., in which he had served before the war. He sends me the 
   following interesting account of his experiences after leaving the Battalion;-

      I left England on July 21st, 1917. All told, there were over a hundred on the 
   draft. After a night’s rest (?) at St. Martin’s Camp, Boulogne, we marched to 
   Etaples under Captain Rumbold. This march played a prominent part in my 
   career in France. I was wearing new boots, and as a result arrived at Etaples with 
   “two lovely” feet. The M.O., evidently thinking I wanted to dodge the “Bull 
   Ring” was “ever so kind!!!”.
      About August 11th nearly the whole draft was transferred to the Lancashire 
   Fusiliers, 42nd Division. We Proceeded to Gommecourt, and I joined 1/8 
   Lancashire Fusiliers.

      Lance-Corpl. T.F. Wilkinson (who passed away early this year) was sent to 1/5 
   Lancashire Fusiliers, much to our regret.

      After a few days with my unit I developed septic feet, and periodically, during 
   my overseas service I was troubled with them. Towards the end of August, 1917, 
   the 42nd Division went to the Ypres Sector, and the 1/8 Lancashire Fusiliers occupied 
   a position very near to Square Farm (Battalion Headquarters) at the foot of Gallipoli 
   Ridge. My first night in the front line saw me bringing up the rear of a ration party 
   down by G Duckboard Track.  The party of thirty was caught in a German strafe, 
   with bad results – three-fourths were killed at the rear of the party and, on examina-

   tion, I found one of the poor chaps to be Bob Gray (Morpeth), who had come out from 
   “old” C Company with myself.  On September 8th the 1/5,1/6,1/7 and 1/8 Lanca-

   shire Fusiliers all went over to take the Ridge in front, which they did, but at a terrible 
   cost, only to be driven back later in the day. A few days afterwards I learnt the very, 

   very sad news of the deaths in action of a large number of our gallant draft, Sergt. 
   T. Davidson, Isherwood, etc., etc.
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      From Ypres I went to Nieuport, and I was attached to 427 Field Company,
   42nd Division R.E.’s. I spent a most exciting (too much so) six weeks on this sector, 
   working on the various dams, etc., and drainage in the front line. 

      Christmas day, 1917, I spent in the front line at Festubert, and the night in an 
   advanced post, famous as “Canadian Orchard”.

      Early in 1918 I paid a visit to hospital. Returning to my unit on March 12th, 
   I started “in pursuit” of a commission, but on March 18th, 1918 the Battalion 
   M.O. “chased” me to hospital again (more septics).  Much against my will I arrived 
   at 25 General Hospital, Hardelot (near Boulogne).

      Thus I was very fortunate in missing the March 21st offensive of the Germans.

      I was at Etaples in May and June during four terrific air raids (including the 
   Whit Sunday one), and had a lively time.

      I returned to my unit in June, and after being in the line on the Hebuterne 
   Sector for five to six weeks, I was sent on a Musketry Course. Over the top for the 
   last time, October 21st, 1918, at 3.26 a.m. (on the right of Solesmes), near Vertigneu.

   After this we periodically advanced, viz Le Quesnoy, Foret-de-Mormal, and was in 
   the line at Hautmont, near Maubeuge on November 11th (Armistice day).

      I was demobbed on February 6th, 1919. During my wanderings I saw many 
   Ex-N.C.B-ites. I shall always look forward to re-unions of either C Company or of 
   the whole Battalion. To all I send my very best wishes and every form of sound 
   prosperity.
      ANGLES, 2nd Lieut. Robert, M.C., West Hartlepool. Died from wounds. I 
   quote from the “Mudguard”, December, 1917 :-
      “It is with deep regret that we have to publish the news of the death from 
   wounds received in action of 2nd Lieut. R. Angles, York Lancs. Regiment.

      Angles, popularly known as “Bobbie”, was one of the original members 
   of our Battalion, and was recommended for a commission while serving as a 
   Lance-Corporal in C Company. He has brought credit to the Battalion, for in 
   receiving wounds from which he eventually succumbed, he earned the Military 
   Cross.

      The official report states that on the occasion of an enemy attack 2nd 
   Lieut. Angles was in charge of a platoon in the front line, and showed the 
   greatest courage and coolness in dealing with the situation. Although attacked 
  with trench mortars, flammenwerfer and machine gun fire he immediately 
   grasped the situation and, by his excellent leadership and disregard of personal 
   danger, and the keenness shown by his men, he repelled the attack on his 
   immediate front. The report goes on to say, “He set a magnificent example 
   of bravery”.

      BAIRD, A., Ashington.   Very badly wounded. Lost a leg. Corporal Andrew 
   writes in his experiences :-
      “It was at Nieuport that Alex. Baird was so badly wounded (losing a leg), and 
   I well remember his heroic fortitude, when being carried by the stretcher-bearers 
   along one of the numerous ‘tunnels’, Alex. Told the two bearers, in his Ashingtonian 
   way, to ‘Take a pipe, mates’ (have a rest).
   ------------

      BELL, Major John, 46 Grainger Street West, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      I went to France late in September, 1916, and found my way up the line in 
   October after, I think, a fortnight’s final polishing in “Gas and Bomb Work” at 
   Harve. Billy Sanders and hall preceded me to the 1/8 London regiment (Post 
   Office Rifles). The Battalion was in the Ypres Salient and had been very roughly 
   handled the day before I arrived. We were in the support trenches just behind “the 
   Bluff”, and our job was to supply working parties putting up wire in front of the first 
   line of trenches, and also to take explosives up to Hill 60 at night. One night I man-

   aged to have a look at the Galleries under Hill 60. We held one side of the Hill and 
   the Boche the other. After we came into Brigade Rest Camp, late in November,
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   I think it was, I was detailed, together with half a dozen other officers, recently posted 
   to the 1/8 London regiment, to join the 2nd Manchesters on the Somme. I accord-

   ingly packed my grip and joined the Manchesters. It was quite quiet at this time at 
   Serre, where we were holding the line, and we were in and out of the trenches until 
   sometime in January, 1917, when I met my bombing accident. One of our 
   Mills Bombs exploded, and I caught the concussion and my ear drum went. It was 
   not until two or three days afterwards that I had to report sick with it, and the M.O. 
   sent me home.
   ------------

      BELL, Sergt. Richard Edwin, 144 Ladykirk Road, Newcastle-on-Tyne.  Enlisted 
   in 3rd line May 10th, 1915; came to 2/1 in March, 1916.

      Was Battalion Bombing and Gas Sergeant and Instructor in Bayonet Fighting 
   and Physical Training, and afterwards Company Sergeant Major. Headquarter 
   duties robbed me of many happy times with C Company at Boston. Left the N.C.B. 
   for the 4th Northumberland Fusiliers in September, 1918, and later joined the 8th 
   Northumberland Fusiliers. Corporal (afterwards Sergeant) Patterson was in my 
   Company in the 8th, and a highly valued Orderly Room Clerk.

   ------------   

      BETTS, Captain Harry E., Langton Villa, Grand Drive, Herne Bay, Kent.
   Enlisted in March , 1908, serving with 13th County of London regiment, Yorkshire 
   Hussars Imperial Yeomanry, Northumberland Fusiliers. Given a commission in 
   2/1 N.C.B. in January, 1915, Captain, commanding F, B, G and C Companies. 
   Bombing and Musketry Officer at various times.

      Seconded to the Machine Gun Corps in February, 1917; Somme (Boche retire-

   ment), 1917; 3rd battle of Ypres, 1917; Gheluvelt-Gelhewr, Menin and Courtrai, 
   1918.

      These are the brief notes Captain Betts modestly supplies me with. I know he 
   was shell-shocked and gassed twice. We all recognise him as the father of the 
   Company, and will always remember his leadership, the great enthusiasm he displayed 
   in the work and sport of the Company and his kindly interest in each individual 
   under his command.

   ------------

      BINNIE, Frank, c/o Mrs Young, 13 Bell’s Court, Berwick-on-Tweed.  Enlisted 
   in 2/1 N.C.B. on October 9th, 1914.

      May 14th, 1917 joined the A.C.C., went to front in same month, joined the 5th 
   Corps on the Somme. From there went to Ypres: there was invalided down the 
   base with trench fever; got fit: joined the 18th Corps Battalion ay Ypres and moved 
   to St. Quintin front until the big retreat on March 18th.  In this movement our 
   Battalion played a very important part in checking the Bosch. Meanwhile was a 
   No. 1 Lewis Gunner. Then joined in our final big push, and finished up between 
   Tournai and Leuze. After, went to 9th Corps and got demobbed.

   ------------   

      BLACK,-----, Ashington.

   ------------
      BROWN, Captain Vernon, O.B.E., Croce di Guerra, Armstrong College, Newcastle-
   upon-Tyne.

      Left the Battalion for the Canadians 3rd Brigade in February, 1917. In May 
   went to the 1st Army Musketry School. In December, 1917, he was made Chief 
   Instructor at the G.H.Q. School of Musketry, Italy. He won the Croce di Guerra, 
   O.B.E., and was mentioned in despatches. After the Armistice he was made Educa-

   tion Officer, 2nd Echelon.

   ------------

      BRUCE, Sergeant James Elliott. 10 Albert Road, Spittal, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   Enlisted in 2/1 N.C.B,, October 8th, 1914, having previously served in 1st V.B.N.F.  

   Promoted Lance-Corporal February, 1915.  Corporal March, 1915. Sergeant April, 
   1915.  Received all the above at Bamburgh. Qualified for Musketry at Strensall, 
   October, 1915. Gained 1st Class Certificate for Bombing at Otley, June 1916. 
   Special duties, principally were helping Sergts. Hutchinson and Carr on training 
   ground at Chapel St. Leonards. Was also Bombing N.C.O. of Skegness under Lieut. 
   Meikle and Capt. Betts.
      Left N.C.B. about April, 1917. Transferred to R.N.V.R.; was put into the 
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   Royal Naval Division. Kept rank as Sergeant, equivalent to Petty Officer. Acting 
   a short while as C.S.M. in front line. Was both on Arras and Ypres fronts. Received  

   shrapnel wound in throat near Ypres, October 21st, 1919. Was in hospital at Sun-

   derland for six months. Demobilised October, 1918, so had for years service 
   altogether. 

   ------------   

      BRUCE, Robert William, 22 Osborne Road, West Hartlepool.  Enlisted in the 
   N.C.B. on December 23rd, 1913, and came to the 2/1 Battalion in February, 1915. 
   Company Scout afterwards Signaller.

      Left 2/1 N.C.B. November 6th, 1915 for 1/1 N.C.B. France July 22nd, 1916. 
   Drafted to 4th Tyneside Scottish.  Vimy Ridge and Armentieres. My firm applied 
   for me to go on munitions. Powers that be sent me to Artillery as battery artificer
   instead. Joined battery at Ypres. Rough time. Plenty of casualties. Took 
   part in advance towards Langemarck, July 31st, 1917.  Stopped a piece of shrapnel 
   on Flanders Ridges near Artillery Wood, August 10th. 1917. Hospital at St. Albans 
   Convalescent at Ware (Herts). France again April 22nd, 1918. Joined fresh battery. 
   Somme, Peronne etc. Sent to Ordnance for Staff-Sergeant’s course August, 1918. 
   Passed test. Went to hospital with flu on the day previous to that on which I 
   should have gone to base for appointment. In hospital at Rouen when Armistice 
   was signed. Back to artillery base. Given option of going up to a battery as Staff-
   Sergeant or having ticket. Needless to say, took latter. Demobbed April 13th, 1919, 
   the 13th being a lucky day for once. 
   ------------

      BRYSON, Robert, 33 West End, Tweedmouth.  Member of the original G Company.  

   Played rugby for the Battalion.

   ------------

      BUGBY, Arthur, 65 South Burns, Chester-le-Street, Co. Durham.  Enlisted in 
   D Company, 1st N.C.B. in May 15th, 1914.

      Served various parts of Northumberland coast patrol work and outposts. Was 
   passed unfit for service abroad at Seaton Delaval; went off to hospital 1st Northern 
   General Newcastle. Underwent an operation for varicose veins, March, 1915; had 
   a month in there and three weeks furlough. Transferred to 2nd N.C.B. May, 1915. 
   Stationed at Rimac House, Saltfleet, Lincs. on patrol work. Afterwards at Chapel- 

   St.- Leonards, Anderby and, later, at Skegness and Boston. Transferred to A.C.C. 
   Depot Hounslow, April, 1917.  Embarked after fortnight’s training for France. 
   Arrived at Cyclists’ Base Depot, Rouen, May 14th, 1917. After three weeks training 
   at Base proceeded to join 5th Corps Cyclist Battalion at Bihucourt (Bullecourt Front),
   joined Lewis Gun Section after two weeks course of Instruction.  Proceeded up to 
   Reserve Line at Vaulx with guns, also anti-aircraft work protecting artillery. Served 
   three weeks there. Battalion moved to Poperinghe, later to Ypres, took command 
   of gun, moved up to English farm left of St. Jean Road attached to 92nd Brigade of 
   Artillery; later moved up to Cambrai Front. Moved up. Attached to 47th 
   Division served in the 6th Londons with guns to replace casualties after the enemy 
   broke through; was in three weeks (recommended by General commanding the 
   Corps)  Captain received his M.C. for the work.  Left 5th Battalion December 12th,
   1917, for Base Hospital, Rouen.  Admitted the 1st Australian General suffering from 
   affects of late operation and too heavy strain up the line; had three weeks rest; 
   discharged from dock January 22nd, 1918. Joined 4th Corps Cyclists January 24th,
   1918. At Bihucourt, doing working parties on Bullecourt Front, also at Vaulx 
   digging reserve lines in preparation for enemy offensive. Granted leave home 
   March 3rd, 1918. Returned March 19th, 1918. Joined Battalion first day after 
   offensive started March 22nd, 1918. Moved up line to join Battalion with Lewis 
   guns, held line and retired following places: Sapignies, Bihucourt, Achiet-le-Petit; 
   tired of life in retiring: relieved by 62nd Division; moved out to Mailly Mallett 
   close to Beaumont-Hamel and back to Sarton, twelve miles off Doullens. Went out 
   later as runner to the 62nd Division headquarters for a month; rejoined Battalion 
   again. Working with New Zealand R.E.’s, making forts in preparation, also jumping 
   off places, got attached to N.Z. Division for bringing prisoners down from the line. 
   British offensive on this front started July, 1918. 
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      Transferred to 37th Division for Patrol work; second push pretty stiff going; 
   moving to right of Cambrai keeping in touch with brigades and Battalions during 
   intensive finding the location of Battalions in action. Attached again to New Zealand 
   Division Signals as runner. In further advance moved on to Solesmes later Beau-
   Dignies, and on to Le Quesnoy, one of the old French forts. With them till the 
   Armistice was signed.
      Returned to my Battalion November 11th,1918; moved on to Hautmont 
   later to Maubeuge, old French fort, and keeping ahead of the infantry on the move 
   up to the frontier of Belgium. Made journey to Charleroi; goes out on station 
   guards looking after, aeroplanes, etc.; taking over all booty until infantry 
   arrive up. I finished close to Brussels: was called back to be demobbed as a 
   miner.

   ------------   

      CATCHESIDE, Lieut. George A., 12 Archibold Terrace, Jesmond, Newcastle-on-
   Tyne.  Left 2/1 N.C.B, in April 1917, and had three weeks at A.C.C.T.C. Chisle-

   don with Woodger, seven of us, all Territorial Cyclists, then crossed and proceeded to 
   the Base at Rouen. After a short time I went up the line and joined the 1st Corps 
   Cyclist Battalion, near Bethune, and a better unit I never wish to find. Well, to be 
   brief, I remained with that Battalion until Armistice, and was a Signalling Officer for 
   most of the time. We had a wonderful time on the last advance. I had a platoon then, 
   and did the “point” for a Brigade Advanced Guard. I got my leaves regularly, and 
   was only slightly gassed once. In March, 1919, having signed for the Army of 
   Occupation, I Proceeded to Euskirchen, a country town near Cöln, where I joined the 
   9th Corps Cyclist Battalion. I stayed with them in Germany, and managed to get a 
   company at last! In September the same year we came home. As soon as I got 
   among the damned red tape again I made efforts to be demobilised, and managed to 
   get out on November 9th.

   ------------   

      CRAWFORD, Arthur Stanley, Boundary House, Westgate Road, Newcastle-
   on-Tyne. Enlisted December 2nd, 1915, joining N.C.B. in January 14th, 1916.
      At Hulton Terrace, Newcastle, after a month’s training, all moved to Dar-

   Lington. In April we got orders to join our 2nd line of N.C.B’s, who were stationed 
   at Anderby Creek, Lincs. I did several patrols there and then we changed our Head-

   quarters to Skegness, where I also spent many happy days.  Patrolling etc., and also 
   on detachments through Boston, Fosdyke and Holbeach.
      In September, 1917, we were all split up and sent to different regiments. I got 
   to the 1/8 Lancashire Fusiliers at Gommecourt, France, after a fortnight’s training. 
   I had my first experience of trench warfare. We went over at Ypres. Several times 
   we went over to find the strength of the enemy, where we lost a great number of the 
   N.C.B.’s.  I spent September and October, 1917 at Ypres, and then went to Nieuport. 
   First time up there I was doing bridge guard. There was Guards at each end, and 
   our duty was to stop troops passing each other on the Bridge, as it was so narrow. 
   The third night I was on duty a shell burst 20 yards from my dugout, and the con-

   cussion knocked me several yards away, my dugout being knocked in. I myself 
   was none the worse. November and December, 1917, we spent in the lines at Civinchy 
   and Festubert on outpost, where we had many surprises. Xmas Day in line. Dinner 
   comprised of bully beef and biscuits. On Xmas night I went on a patrol, and on this 
   patrol I lost all my pals, only two of us returning.

      After coming out of the line I applied for transport, and succeeded in being 
   accepted.  I was first put on to a pack mules, taking rations, water, etc for our 
   Battalion.  I continued with this until I got to driving a pair of mules at a place 
   called Bus, not far from Sailly a Bois.  One day I was on the water cart and, having 
   finished my duties, from 7.30 a.m. to 6 p.m., I was returning back to the horse lines,  

   thinking I had been lucky to get out of heavy shell fire, when a shell burst not far from 
   me and killing my offside mule leaving my rider and myself unhurt, it gave me a 
   great shock, but soon recovered. I had several experiences of this kind afterwards.
      In March, 1918, I was up at Arras, where the Germans started their advance 
   we having to clear as soon as possible to get the horses into safety, but I and four others 
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   were cut off and missing for five days, having travelled day and night getting 
   our food for horses and men where we could. I at last came across the remainder of 
   our transport at a place called Merriment; from there we tramped through Havrin-

   court Wood, Cambrai etc., our Battalion being in action all the time. On November 
   11th, we landed at a place called Hautmont in the afternoon, where our bands met the   

   transport and played us into the village. The civilians carried torch lights and 
   paraded us through the streets. Time went on until we were moved up to Charleroi, 
   Belgium, when I took ill in March, 1919, and was invalided home. After recovering 
   I was sent to Aldershot, and only being there three weeks I was sent abroad again 
   to the 9th East Lancs. At a place called Chanak, near Constantinople. I was 
   General’s groom there to G.O.C., the 83rd Division. I was employed by him 
   four months, and then was demobbed in September, 1919.  It took me five weeks, 
   having been held up by the railway strike.
   ------------

      CRAWFORD, Company-Sergeant-Major W.H. c/o 85 Castle Terrace, Ashington,   

   Northumberland.  Enlisted 2/1 N.C.B. October 8th, 1914,. Promotions, etc; 
   Full Corporal, Lance Sergeant-qualified at Aldershot as P.T. and B.F. Instructor and 
   at Strensall as Musketry Instructor-then promoted C.Q.M.S., then C.S.M.

      I think I can safely say I was claimed by the Battalion as an all-round instructor. 
   August 27th, 1918, proceeded overseas to France. Posted to 9th Northumberland 
   Fusiliers, then 5th K.O.Y.L.I., Cambrai Front. Engagements nil, owing to Battalion 
   order not allowing C.S.M.s to go into line after September 6th.  Battalion took 
   Havrincourt on September 11th,1918, and kept busy till Armistice was signed there, 
   last stunt being a village just outside Mauberge.

   ------------   

      CLARKE, Joe, c/o W.C. Caverhill & Co., Ltd., Berwick-on-Tweed.
      COCKBURN, Matthew, 67 Middle Street, Spittal, Berwick-on Tweed. Killed 
   in action on 11 April, 1917, whilst serving with the 27th Northumberland 
   Fusiliers.

      CONNELLY, E., 90 Northbourne Street, Gateshead.

   ------------

      COOK, Company Sergt.-Major T.B., Foulden, Berwick-on-Tweed.  Enlisted 
   2/1 N.C.B., October 13th, 1913. Promoted to C.S.M. March, 1916.

      Left the 2/1 N.C.B. for the 1st Northumberland Fusiliers in France on May 20th, 
   1918.  Served on Bethune and Arras Fronts. Was wounded in general advance 
   August 21st, 1918; admitted hospital Boulogne, then transferred to Canadian General 
   Hospital, Orpington, Kent, on 24th August, 1918. Discharged permanently unfit 
   January 11th, 1919.
   ------------   

      COULTHARD, J., 1 Lees Lane, Tweedmouth.
   ------------   

      COWAN, J., c/o Co-operative Stores, Greenside, Durham.

   ------------   
      DARLING, A., Inland Pastures, Scremerston, Berwick.  Saw service in Salonica.

   ------------   

      DAVIDSON, Edward Andrew, Woodbine Cottage, Jesmond Dene, Newcastle-
   on-Tyne.  Enlisted January 17th, 1916.   He writes: “I am the chap who, perhaps 

   you will remember, had a cycle accident whilst returning from a General’s inspection 
   past Burgh. I spent a month in Winthrop Hospital, and later another month in 
   Lincoln No. 4 General Hospital. The ailment was a “loose cartilage of the knee”. 
   I am now receiving a small disability pension for same. I was eventually reduced 
   from A1 to C1 then further to B2. I was never out of England, so I am afraid I 
   cannot give you any interesting item for your history of C Company”.  He was 
   transferred to the 18th Yorkshire Regiment in June, 1918, and demobbed January, 
   1919.
   ------------   

      DAVIDSON, Sergt, Thomas, Derwentwater Terrace, Scremerston, Berwick-on-
   Tweed.  Enlisted in 1914. Rose to rank of sergeant. Transferred to 1/5 Lancashire 
   Fusiliers July, 1917, and was killed in August, 1917.
   “Memories of Tommy Davidson will live with us always: he was a great sports-
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   man in every sense of the word; he worked and played with equal enthusiasm and 
   was beloved by everyone. I will quote a brief note from C Company Notes in 
   ’Mudguard’ November, 1916, when he was promoted to full sergeant: ‘Everyone in 
   the Company was glad to see Lance-Sergt. T. Davidson go through orders for the 
   full degree, for there is no more popular N.C.O. in C Company’”.

   ------------   

      DAVIDSON, James, 17 Walkergate, Berwick-on-Tweed.  Left the Battalion 
   in May, 1917 for overseas; had bad luck to be captured April, 1918.

   ------------   

      DAVIDSON, Peter, 9 Hatters Lane, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------   

      DIXON, Robert, 1 Wallace Green, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      “We shall never forget the wonderful way in which he wielded the drumstick 
   and the paint brush.”

   ------------   

      DODDS, Lance-Corporal Roderick, 93 Woodhorn Road, Ashington.  Enlisted 
   N.C.B. October 6th, 1914. Promoted Lance-Corpl. June, 1917; signaller; played 
   half back for C Company.

      On June 21st, 1917 joined 26th Battalion, Northumberland Fusiliers (Tyneside 
   Irish).  On Battalion being disbanded was transferred to 22nd Battalion (Tyneside 
   Scottish).  Joined 26th Battalion on the Peronne Front. From there we left for 
   Belgium (Langemarck). Back from there to the Wanecourt Front (France), and 
   from that part to the Bullecourt Sector, where we were on the 21st March, 1918, 
   when the “Big Stunt” came off, and, as I stopped a bullet the very first day of it, 
   I left France for good (and was sorry?).

   ------------   

      DODDS, Lance-Corporal W.H., 15 Palace Street, Berwick-on-Tweed.  Enlisted; 
   N.C.B. October 12th, 1914. Accountant and motor cyclist. Transferred to A.C.C. 
   Chiseldon, joined 13th Company A.C.C., 13th Division (Iron 13th) in Mesopotamia; 
   was a Lewis gunner. Demobilised April 1st, 1919.

   ------------   

      DOYLE, Lance-Corporal P.

   ------------   

      DOYLE, R. Both of Ashington.

      I have not details of their service but I know they are both safely back. They 
   took a keen interest in sport, especially boxing. R. Doyle being middleweight 
   champion of the Lincolnshire Coast Defences. He had very bad luck in being 
   accidentally wounded when on guard.

   ------------   

      DRUMMOND, Lance-Corporal James, 52A Liquorpond Street, Boston.  Enlisted 
   in 2/1 N.C.B., December 22nd, 1914.

      He was a keen boxer, winning 2nd and 3rd prize in L.C.D. Boxing Competition. 
   Promoted to Lance-Corporal July, 1917, and shortly afterwards went to France in the 
   1/5 Lancashire Fusiliers. First engagement Ypres, September 17th, afterwards 
   going to Nieuport for a few weeks. Winter 1917-18 astride Bethume-La Basse Canal. 
   April, 1918 at Lys.

   ------------   

      DYKES, Corporal William, Ashington.

   ------------   
      EDWARDS, Sydney F., 28 Elswick Row, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

   ------------   
      FAUCUS, Robert, Brewery Bank, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      FENWICK, Corporal Thomas Surtees, 43 Hazelwood Avenue, Newcastle–upon-
   Tyne.

      He joined the 3rd line under Captain White in November, 1915. The following 
   spring he came to C Company, 2/1 N.C.B. at Anderby Creek, where he says, he met 
   ”some of the staunchest friends he had so far come across in the army.” He was 
   promoted to Corporal, musketry being one of his specialities/ He was a regular con-

   tributor to the Mudguard, finally becoming joint-editor. Of his experiences overseas 
   he writes as follows:-

      I was with Sergeant McGilligan on the Wainfleet Station when I was selected 
   with other N.C.O.s for the Tyneside Scottish in June, 1917. But I never saw the kilties, 
   nor did any of those who went out with me. We were posted to them at the I.B.D., but 
   at the end of the ten days endurance vile in the Bull Ring, we were split up amongst 
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   regiments that had suffered heavily in casualties in the July push, 1917, and most of 
   us went to the York and Lancs. Only about three of us went to the 8th York. and 
   Lancs. I think, the others going to the 9th. With me, I remember, was Johnson, of 
   Boston, whom I saw leaving the trench known as Jasper Avenue, wounded in the leg by 
   a shell which had wiped out two or three of our fellows. I never heard of him again, 
   and often wondered what happened to him, but he was well out of the subsequent 
   trouble of that day, as we were called upon to entertain afternoon callers from over 
   the way. We entertained them right warmly!

      I naturally had all sorts of experiences. I will mention but one. It was imme-

   diately before a push somewhere, September, 1917, and we were ordered to go out and 
   get prisoners for information purposes at G.H.Q. We lay out in shell holes all night, 
   and over we went at 6.2a.m. I was on the Lewis gun all the time I was in France, 
   and it was my job to keep the Germans from rushing up their trench from the right.
   The manoeuvre was entirely successful. We went for “at least four” prisoners, 
   and brought back something like twenty, and we only had two casualties. A man 
   fell on his own bayonet in the excitement, and another chap went west along with his 
   German prisoner, who dropped a hand-grenade on the way back to our front line.

      I was wounded by a shell in November of the same year. Our platoon was making 
   up towards Polygon Wood to take cover, when my section was cut off by shell-fire 
   from the rest of the Company, all of whom had to scatter and take cover. My section 
   found itself in a shell hole to which Jerry was playing from two sides. We couldn’t 
   get away, and towards daylight we felt we had better get further into the ground, as 
   the break of dawn was bound to bring its “Hail, Smiling Morn” shower of heavies. 
   We had just finished digging down as best we could whilst keeping cover, and having 
   only our entrenching tools to work with, and I stood up to put my ground sheet on,  

   as it was raining like it does in Newcastle on a bank holiday. At that moment a shell 
   landed on the crest of the hole, and I took all there was of it for our little bunch.  I 
   was hit in the right elbow, and the right jaw, so that for a time I could not move my 
   arm or chew. But I am all right now again, and can even play golf as well as in pre-
   war days. After coming out of hospital I joined the 4th Yorks. and Lancs. I was 
   given back my stripes, which again went west on transfer-a hard rule that, under 
   which I suffered three times-and was sent on a general course. Got top certificates 
   for everything, went on a gas course and qualified as an instructor, and went to Otley 
   and got a bombing special, so I settled down as a Bombing Instructor at Rugeley 
   Camp, and finally at Southend, from where I was demobilised. In the meantime I 
   had appeared once before the M.O. for draft, when the wind was up in the middle of 
   1918, and was turned down.
   ------------

      FOSTER, Luke, c/o Williamson, Roman Bank, Skegness.
   ------------   
      HAEGERTY, Kingston, Bridge End, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      HAMILTON, A., 36 Ninth Row, Ashington.

      Extract from C. Company notes in Mudguard, December, 1916;-

      “Since the last publication of the Mudguard, Cyclist A. Hamilton has left his 
   Company and returned to civilian employment. Cyclist Hamilton was very popular 
   throughout the Battalion, and his loss (especially as C Company and Battalion half 
   back) will be greatly felt. His aim is no longer got ‘goal’ but for coal.”

   ------------   

      HARDY, Lieut. (Temp Captain) A.C., 40 Harlow Moor Drive, Harrogate.

      Joined the Battalion  in January, 1915, remaining with them until October 6th, 
   1917. (Commanded C Company after Captain Betts left for the Machine Gun Corps 
   in February, 1917).  Camouflage Officer to Tyne and Tees Garrisons until September,  

   1918, when became Assistant Camouflage Officer to XIII Corps, France. Demobilised 
   April, 1919.

   ------------   

      HARPER, A., 165 Woodhorne Road, Ashington.

   Served throughout the War in the Battalion, not being passed fit for services 
   overseas. It was unnecessary for me to write at length on his skilful work as Cycle 
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   Artificer to the Company or on his achievement at the billiard table. He is remem-

   bered by all.
   ------------   

      HARTLEY, William, 9 West End, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      HELEY, William, 27 Church Road, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      HEPPLEWHITE, J., Fernwood House, Beamish, S.O., Durham.

   ------------   

      HILL, Corporal J., Derwentwater Terrace, Scremerston, Berwick.

      Enlisted 1914. In August, 1916, was transferred to Class W Army Reserve 
   returning to work at the colliery.

     HOGG, Lance-Corporal George, 3 College Street, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Killed in action.
      HOLLAND, Alex.

      Killed in action whilst serving with the York. and Lancs. Regiment.
      HOPE, J.W., 412 Langwell Terrace, Pegswood, near Morpeth.

      Enlisted N.C.B. at Berwick October 12th, 1914. Left C Company at Butterwick 
   for France, joining the 5th Northumberland Fusiliers. Was taken prisoner March 
   27th, 1918.

      HUGILL, --, West Hartlepool.

      Killed in action with the Machine Gun Corps.
      ISHERWOOD, --,

      Killed in action with the Lancashire Fusiliers in September, 1917.
      INNES, Sergeant William, Old Colliery, Scremerston, Berwick-on-Tweed.   

      Enlisted in N.C.B. in October, 1914, and was with them until August, 1916, 
   when, with Corpl. Hill was transferred to Class W Army Reserve, and returned to 
   work at the colliery.

      He is now married and has a little son.

   ------------   
      JACKSON, Thomas, Charlotte Pit Cottages, Benwell, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted in 2/1 N.C.B. February 3rd, 1915. Signaller; Battalion goal keeper.

   Left N.C.B. on May 7th, 1917, for the 6th Battalion Army Cyclist Corps. Arras, 
   Cambrai, etc.

   ------------   

      JAMESON, Harris, 26 Church Street, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------   

      JOHNSON, C.F., 5 Tunard Street, Boston.

      I have no particulars of his service, but I know that he is back safe and well at 
   his business in Boston. I believe he was wounded.

   ------------   

      JOHNSON, S., 26 Red Lion Street, Boston.   

      Enlisted N.C.B. March 29th, 1915. Leaving them in the spring of 1917 for the
   1/5 Northumberland Fusiliers. After about eighteen months with them, went to 
   the Machine Gun Corps, attached to R.N.D. in France, stayed with them until 
   war was over.

   ------------   
      KEENLYSIDE, John Arkle, Denton Burn, Scotswood, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted N.C.B. February 2nd, 1915. Played in all Company football matches. 
   Left the Battalion July 25th, 1917, for the 1/8 Lancashire Fusiliers. Was wounded 
   at Ypres on 3rd September, and returned to England. To France again March 3rd, 
   1918, and again wounded on the day of the big German raid, March 21st, so back to 
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   Blighty again. Then to France a third time in August, 1918, and stayed till after 
   the turn of the year.

   ------------   

      KIDD, Harold, 20 Chamberlain Street, Crawcrook, Ryton-on-Tyne, Co. Durham.

      Enlisted May 12th, 1915, joining 2/1 N.C.B. at Saltfleet in July, 1915. 
   Spent most of time with Company, but during last few months at Skegness took up  

   Signalling and passed out A1. Took a keen interest in football and cross-country 
   running. Very often figured in the Company Teams. May 3rd, 1917, left Skegness 
   with draft for Chisledon, spent ten days there, then crossed over to Rouen. Did 
   another month’s training on the “Bull Ring”, then left for VII Corps Cyclist 
   Battalion, where I remained until demobilised in February this year. Was on many 
   parts of the Western Front during our stay in France. Was on the Arras Sector to 
   start with, then we went to the Somme, where we stayed until we got chased away 
   during the big retreat in March, 1918. Was in Belgium on the Ypres Sector for the 
   glorious advance.
   ------------   

      KNOWLES, J., 29 West End, Tweedmouth, Berwick.

   ------------   

      KNOX, Robert Henry, Waverley House, Bridge Street, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      Enlisted October 6th, 1914. April, 1916 (approximately) transferred to M.G.C.  

   (Territorials).  Attached 9th Division, France. Somme engagements etc. January, 
   1917, transferred to Motor Machine Guns. April, 1917, transferred to Tank Corps. 
   Cambrai etc., general engagements with Tank Corps until armistice. Demobilised 
   from Tank Corps May 20th, 1919. While I was with 2/1 N.C.B. was the best time 
   of the whole of my soldiering, and I shall always look back with pleasant memories on 
   the time I was a Cyclist.

   ------------   
      LOUGH, Sergeant Bartholomew, 11 Main Street, Spittal, Berwick-on-Tweed.   

      Enlisted N.C.B. October 6th, 1914.  Promoted full Corporal March, 1915, 
   and Acting Sergeant October, 1916. Took part in one or two cross-country runs at    

   Mallethorpe and Chapel St. Leonards. May 3rd, 1917 transferred to Army Cyclist 
   Corps, later served with R.E., I.W. and D., and again transferred to Field Engineers 
   on November, 1917 (R.E.) transferred to Tank Corps February, 1918.

      Sent overseas March, 1918. Few weeks training in La-Treporte.  Posted to 
   I Battalion (9th) on the Arras front, saw some good work done there; pushed Huns 
   back a few miles. Latterly I got gassed the 2nd September, 1918; and sent to Blighty.  

   Sheffield Hospital. Demobilised January 29th, 1919, at Duddington, Edinburgh.

   ------------   

      LAWSON, J., 130 Gloucester Road, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

   ------------   

      LEDDY, William, Wallace Green, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------   

      LILLIE, J.E., 3 Church Street, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------  
      MCCONNELL, R.Q.M.S. Edmond Howard, 30 Georges Road, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted in N.C.B. October 6th, 1914. Promoted to Corporal December 14th. 
   Sergeant February 16th; Colour-Sergeant March 15th; C.S.M. October 16th; 
   R.Q.M.S. March 17th. Gained distinction on the Musketry Course at Strensall and 
   100 per cent in the Chelsea Drill Course. Acted as Foreman of Works on several 
   constructional pieces of work for Lincolnshire Coast Defences. Won Silver cup for 
   220 yards Sergeant’s Race at Regimental Sports, 1917. Remained with the Battalion 
   until it disbanded on January 21st, 1919.

   ------------   

      McLEOD, James M.M., 26 Standstill Road, Spittal, Berwick–on-Tweed.

      Enlisted in N.C.B. October 8th, 1914. Left Battalion in July, 1917, serving 
   with K.O.Y.L.I. and London Regiment at Ypres and on the Somme. He won the 
   M.M. 

   ------------   

      McGILLIGAN, C.Q.M.S.M., Saddlers Hotel, Mainsworth Terrace, West Hartlepool.

      Sergeant McGilligan came to us from the 1/N.C.B. when we were at Bamburgh. 
   He was promoted to rank of C.Q.M.S. in October, 1917. He went overseas in 
   the summer of 1918. I have no record of his service after leaving the Battalion, but 
   I know that he is safely back at West Hartlepool as I had the pleasure of meeting him 
   at the Battalion Reunion in August, 1919.
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      MASON, Thomas, Scremerston Town Farm, Scremerston, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      Enlisted N.C.B. December 29th, 1914. Left N.C.B. April 27th, 1916. April, 
   1916 billeted at Grantham; four weeks training in riding school, then proceeded 
   overseas to Mesopotamia. In 134 Machine Gun Company, attached to 7th Mosil 
   Division, first part of the front was Suniat, stationed there two months, then went 
   over the top, advanced to Kut-el-amora, then proceeded and took Bagdad; went 
   from Bagdad to Samara Station, settled for two months, left Mesopotamia and
   came to Egypt and up to the Palestine front; front line outside Jaffa when we took 
   it over; left there, was in hospital nine weeks with poisoned arms, came out, was 
   transferred to 10th Irish Division, came to Cairo and was stationed next to Pyramids.

   Shortly after was sent home and demobbed, January 11th, 1919. Came through 
   everything without a scratch.

      Was married in November, 1919, to Darling’s sister.

   ------------   

      MEIKLE, Lieut. Laurence, Winscombe, Pinner, Middlesex.

      “I left the N.C.B. at Skegness in August, 1917, and sailed for “La Belle France” 
   on the 7th of that month. I joined the 2/6 Manchester Battalion at Nieuport, and 
   was with them until November 13th, on which date I was wounded and gassed at 
   Ypres (the wound consisting of a wee piece of shrapnel the size of a pinhead entering 
   my leg!), and after about nine months in hospitals, Command Depots, etc., I 
   joined the 1st Line N.C.B. at Alnwick, and from there went with all the other fellows 
   to the 4th Reserve Battalion, Northumberland Fusiliers at Hornsea in Hull. Thence, 
   ye gods, Demobilisation!!! February 15th, 1919.

   ------------   

      MONTGOMERY, Robert, 3 Howick Terrace, Tweedmouth, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------   

      MOORE, A.

   ------------   

      MORRISON, Arthur, Main Road, Tweedmouth.  

   ------------   
      NESBITT, J., 2 Woodmarket, Berwick-on-Tweed.
   ------------   
      PALLIN, George William, 23 Milton Road, West Hartlepool.   

      Enlisted N.C.B. August 4th, 1914; came to 2/1 Battalion February 15th. Left 
   the Battalion June 9th, 1915, and was transferred to Northumbrian Divisional 
   Royal Engineers, and was posted to 4/1 Field Company. Was sent to Fulford 
   Barracks, York, in October, 1915, to attend N.C.O’s School of Instruction. On 
   completion of course was engaged on instructional work at Silkstone (R.E.) Camp, 
   Yorks. In May, 1916, was sent home to Hartlepool on munition work, and remained 
   there until after discharge.

   ------------   

      PARKER, J., 31 Grasmere Street, West Hartlepool.

   ------------   

      PARKIN, Joseph, c/o 17 William Street, Workington, Cumberland.

      Enlisted N.C.B. May 12th, 1915 and joined the 2/1 at Saltfleet. Member of   

   Sergeant Locker’s famous band.  Left 2/1 N.C.B. May 14th, 1917. Transferred to 
   Army Cyclist Corps. Served in France with 9th Corps Cyclist Battalion, also 17th 
   Corps Cyclist Battalion. I was with the 9th Corps at Messines, and on that part 
   of the front was invalided to England with trench fever. Went out again in April, 
   1918, to 17th Corps, Arras Front and Cambrai Front. Started from behind Cambrai 
   in the last push of the war, and worked with the 6th Dragoons’ Guard until the night 
   of November 9th, when we withdrew, awaiting the signing of the Armistice. Finished 
   up on active service in a small village, Elesmes, in front of Maubeuge. It may be 
   interesting to know that four of us, all grocers and pals, joined the Army the 
   same day, A. Moore, H. Kidd, J. Cowen and myself. We were all in C Company. 
   A. Moore went to the M.G.C., and with the other three of us to the A.C.C., and glad to say 
   we all came through without a scratch, no medals, and no promotion, and, as far as I 
   know, we all had a clean conduct sheet. We are all back in the old trade again. I 
   will never forget the happy days I spent on the East Coast, especially Skegness. I 
   have been down there for a holiday since I was demobilised and met three old C Com- 

   pany chaps while I was there.
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      PATTERSON, Corporal T.W., 114 Cuthbert Street, Hebburn-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted N.C.B. October 9th, 1914. Served with Battalion until June, 1917,
   when went overseas to join 22nd Northumberland Fusiliers (3rd Tyneside Scottish). 
   Left France November, 1917, with trench fever. Rejoined N.C.B. at Burton Con-

   stable in February, 1918. Again went to France in November, 1918, to the 8th  

   Northumberland Fusiliers. Promoted to Sergeant. Demobilised March 1st, 1919.

   He writes as follows :- Although I was transferred to C Company on September 20th, 
   1916, and remained until 21st June, 1917 I was actually very little with the Company, 
   spending most of my time at Freeston Shore. However, one incident in my Army life 
   which occurred whilst I was in C Company will always live in my memory.

      Perhaps you will remember it. I lost my bike, equipment, bed, blankets and, 
   in fact, everything as a soldier I was supposed to possess, and I remember one certain 
   gentleman saying I’d have to pay up to the tune of something like £30. After a 
   lapse of about two months D Company found most of the stuff in one of their boxes, 
   and I again became a pocket edition of Carter Patterson, or as some people said 
   when we were in full marching order, “beasts of burden”.

    ------------  

      PATTERSON, P., 3 Middle Street, Spittal, Berwick.

   ------------   

      PAXTON, Thomas, 28 Kiln Hill, Tweedmouth.

    ------------  

      PEARSON, --, West Hartlepool.

    ------------  

      PEARSON, Bugler William, Foul Ford, Berwick-on-Tweed.

    ------------  

      PICKERING, H.S., 34 Lichfield Street, Gateshead, Durham.

      Enlisted N.C.B. February 16th, 1915, aged 15½ years as a Bugler. Went to Bam-

   burgh, then Saltfleet, Chapel St Leonards, Skegness and Alford. At each of these 
   places I served as Headquarters Bugler. At Alford I returned to the Company for 
   ordinary duty, and on May 3rd, 1918, when the Battalion was at Burton Constable, 
   I went on draft leave. On May 19th forty of us left for France with C.S.M. Cook at 
   our head. We all joined 1st Northumberland Fusiliers in the line, Cook still being 
   S.M. I stuck the trenches for six weeks until I was gassed on La Bassee Canal. I 
   was one month in hospital, six weeks in convalescent camp at Trouville, and then 
   passed B2 at the Medical Board and sent to look after prisoners of war at Havre, 
   where I was promoted to full corporal. Demobilised May 7th, 1919.

   ------------   

      PORTER, Sergeant Sidney, Westgate, York Road, West Hartlepool.

   Enlisted in the N.C.B. in January, 1914, coming to the 2/1 N.C.B. in January, 
   1915. Rose to rank of Sergeant.  Left Battalion, May, 1917, for the 1st Corps 
   Cyclist Battalion in France. Recommended for Commission in the Army Cyclist 
   Corps and gazetted 9th June, 1918. Attached Lincoln Yeomanry, later West Kent 
   Yeomanry, and served in west of Ireland from Armistice to demobilisation, September, 
   1919.

   ------------   

      PURVES, James (better known as “Paddy”), 2 Yards Head, West End, Tweedmouth.
      Member of G Company. Went to France with what we called Geordie 
   Puttie’s draft.  Lieut. Thompson took us out in June, 1917. I wasn’t very long in 
   France until I was wounded in the elbow, but I didn’t get to Blighty with it. After 
   I came out of hospital our Division was ordered out to Italy, where I remained until 
   the Armistice was signed. I was then in 9th Battalion York and Lancs. There 
   were six other C Company Cyclists with us - Nattress, Blair, Smith of the band, 
   Mawer, Hudson and Fairgrieves. I must tell you that out of all the Cyclists 
   which joined the York and Lancs. there were killed – Corpl. Smith  (D Company); 
   Mawer’s brother (D Company) and Alex. Holland (C Company).

    ------------  

      PURVES, Robert, 28 Walkergate, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      Enlisted N.C.B. October 6th, 1914. Left the Battalion in 1915 for the Royal 
   Field Artillery. First served in France at Passendale and on the Somme.
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        RICHARDSON, Mark Cockburn, 1 Parliament Close, West End, Tweedmouth.   

        Killed in action September 14th, 1916.
RICHARDSON, Peter, 33 West End, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      ROBSON, G.H., M.M., 137, Bayswater Road, West Jesmond, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted in N.C.B. December 11th, 1915, joining the Battalion at Chapel St 
   Leonards. Left Battalion for France July 24th, 1917, transferred at base to 
   1/8 Lancashire Fusiliers. Was awarded the Military Medal October 23rd, 1918.
   ------------   

      ROBSON, Sergeant James, 14 Albert Road, Spittal, Berwick-on-Tweed.
      Enlisted N.C.B. October 8th, 1914. Promoted to Sergeant. Left the Battalion 
   January 29th, 1917, being transferred to the Royal Engineers, and with that unit 
   went to France, and had some exciting experiences. I was driving a locomotive in 
   the Railway Operating Division, and I think I have been over Northern France 
   from Ypres to the Somme. The first six months was with the Artillery with No. 1 
   Armoured Train. We had two 6-inch naval guns, and of course, had to be always 
   with them with the locomotive, shifting from place to place going into action. I was 
   a lot about Bethune, Bully Grenay, Beuvry La Basse when Jerry left it, and followed 
   them right up to Lille, where we had our depot on the right at a place they 
   called Orchies, where I took the ‘flu and went into hospital at Douai, then to Etaples. 
   At last I got to London, where I was not long in picking up again. I think it must 
   have been the thoughts of being in this country. I met one or two of C Company 
   boys near Bethune one day, and they told me where they were to be billeted, so I took a 
   stroll over to see them. I saw Sergt. Carr, Cyclists Maddison, Jackson and was 
   unfortunate not to see Sergt. Porter, he having just left for a commission.

   ------------   

      ROBSON, Sergeant John D., 23 Middle Street, Spittal, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      Enlisted October 10th, 1914.  Promoted Corporal December 23rd, 1914. 
   Sergeant February, 1915. Qualified in Musketry at Strensall Course, August, 
   1916.  Left the Battalion June 16th, 1917.  Sailed for France: transferred to 6th 
   K.O.Y.L.I.  At Ypres Salient, Glencorse Wood and Inverness Copse. Was gassed 
   and shell shocked in the salient.  In 2nd Stationary Hospital in Abbeville, where I 
   had the pleasure of meeting our old friend Captain Betts also in with shell shock. 
   Later was in 3rd Southern General Hospital in Oxford.  He describes his war 
   experiences as “Two years and nine months holiday and three months hell with lid 
   off!”
   ------------   

      ROSS, A., Bridge Street, Berwick-on-Tweed.

   ------------

      RUTHERFORD, Peter, 8 Weatherley Square, Berwick-on-Tweed.
      Peter will always be remembered as Captain Betts’ batman. He served in this 
   capacity for about two and a-half years. He was transferred to the Railway Troops 
   R.E., and went to Palestine, finishing up as Senior Sergeant in the Company he was 
   in. He was stationed in Jerusalem for two months.
   ------------   
      SCOTT, Sergeant James Alfred, Sergt. 2nd Battalion Northumberland Fusiliers, 
   Cotton-in-the–Elms, Burton on Trent.

   Enlisted May 25th, 1915. Served with the 3rd Royal Warwickshire Regiment, 
   also 4th Battalion Army Cyclist Corps and Machine Gun Corps before coming to the 
   2/1 N.C.B. in May, 1917.  Promoted Lance-Corpl.  August, and Corporal October 
   1917. Left N.C.B. April, 1918 for 23rd Northumberland Fusiliers (Tyneside Scottish) 
   until they were disbanded, after which I was instructor to the Yanks, and then went 
   to a Demobilisation camp. Promoted to Sergeant during summer of 1918. Joined 
   2nd Battalion Northumberland Fusiliers, June, 1919 and proceeded to Mesopotamia 
   September 7th, 1919.
   ------------  

      SCOTT, Lance-Corporal Cecil, 4 Institute Terrace, Ouston, W. Birtley, Co. 
   Durham.
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      SCOTT, J., 58 Church Street, Berwick-on-Tweed   

      Enlisted N.C.B. October 6th, 1914. Leaving them for Tyneside Irish. 
      Killed in action April, 1918, after being wounded several times.
      SHIEL, J., Ashington.

   ------------   

      STARK, George, 15 Station Cottages, Tweedmouth, Berwick-on-Tweed.

      Enlisted October, 1914. Patrolled the Lincolnshire Coast with the 
   Battalion until May 5th, 1917, when was transferred to the 5th K.O.Y.L.I. in France. 
   Fought at Ypres, La Basse, Lens, Loos, Cambrai, 2nd battle of Marne and two battles 
   at Avencourt Wood. Battle of Le Quesnoy where he was seriously wounded and had 
   to have his right arm amputated.
   ------------   

      STEPHENSON, Fred., M.M., 13 Lily Avenue, Jesmond, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Joined 2/1 N.C.B. in January, 1916, at Chapel St Leonards; went to B Company 
   and was then transferred to C Company, and was a member of the Company’s Cricket 
   Team, in fact, I was sort of secretary for it, and many a good game we had on the Skegness  

   ground.

------------   

      STEPHENSON, --.

      When I left the good old N.C.B. we were taken overseas by Lieut. Thompson, 
   and were supposed to be a draft for the Northumberland Fusiliers. We arrived at 
   Etaples and after doing a fortnight at the “awful Bull Ring”, we were sent to join 
   the York and Lancs; some to the 8th and some to the 9th Battalion. I went to 
   the 9th. They were Yorkshire through and through. We were not very long before 
   we got our first baptism of fire, and I didn’t like it a bit. They made me a Company 
   Runner, and as you know Company Runners had to be well acquainted with the line, 
   how to get to it and how to come out, and we had to go and bring in the Reliefs 
   and lead our own Company out, also to take ration parties in and out. All this had 
   to be done under the heaviest of fire and barrages, and I received my Military Medal 
   for one of these stunts. I was bringing up a relief and how we managed to get 
   through “God only knows” (this is in the proper sense); it was, to say the least, 
   ”miraculous”.

      The following is the report upon which Stephenson was awarded the Military 
   Medal:- “For conspicuous bravery and devotion to duty during the offensive. This 
   man was Company Runner and did exceptionally good work in keeping communica-

   tions between his Company and Battalion Headquarters, often under very heavy 
   hostile fire. He also acted as guide to relieving units, and showed great skill and 
   intelligence in the performance of his duty under circumstances rendered particularly 
   dangerous and difficult owing to the very heavy evening barrages.”

   ------------   

      THOMPSON, Lieut. W.K., Park Villas South, Middlesbrough.

      Left the Battalion in May, 1916 for the Gloucester Regiment. Served in France 
   with them in the 61st Division until September, when he was invalided home and 
   returned to the N.C.B. He again went overseas in early 1918. I believe I met 
   him at King’s Cross for a few minutes in March, 1919. He was fit and well and 
   proposed staying in the Army. 
   ------------   

      TURLEY, George Edward, 4 Sarah Street, Chester-le-Street.

      Enlisted in 1/1 N.C.B. 21 March, 1914, transferred to 2/1 N.C.B. in 1915. 
   Played football for the Company and went in for running.

      In January, 1917 went to France to the 4th Northumberland Fusiliers.  Served on 
   the Somme and Peronne Fronts. Got trench feet and returned to England to 
   the 7th Durham Light Infantry. Went to France again, transferred to the 5th City 
   of London Regiment and was with them at Arras during the Retreat: only about 
   forty to sixty men came back. I got trench fever and was sent down the line to 
   Trouville, where I lost the use of my left arm and was sent to England in July, 1918, 
   and was demobbed on January 8th, 1919. Now A1 and working at my old job – 
   coal hewing.
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      TYRRELL, Edward, Ashington.

      Another of our valiant C Company boxers, who won prizes in the L.C.D. Boxing 
   competitions.
      I have no definite records of his service after leaving the N.C.B., but I believe he 
   was wounded in the arm by shrapnel. He is now back in Ashington.

   ------------   
      WAKENSHAW, J., 15 Kiln Hill, Tweedmouth.

   ------------   

      WALLACE, Sergeant Thomas, 10 Station Houses, Tweedmouth.

      Rose to the rank of sergeant. Remained with the Battalion instructing recruits.

   Through ill health was made Category B2, and subsequently discharged two or three 
   weeks before the Armistice was signed.

   ------------   

      WARNOCK, J., 169 Graeme Street, Glasgow. C.

    ------------  

      WATERS, J.F., Lieut. 4 Osborne Terrace, Newcastle–on-Tyne.

      After leaving the 2/1 N.C.B. at Skegness in July, 1916, I joined the 2/5 Battalion 
   Duke of Wellington’s West Riding Regiment, 62nd Division, at Henham Park, 
   Suffolk. Here we carried out intensive training until November, 1916, when the 
   Division proceeded to Bedford.

      In January, 1917, I proceeded over to France with the Division.

      For the majority of my sixteen months in France, the Battalion served in the 
   Ancre district. In November, 1917, we played a prominent part in the Battle of 
   Cambrai and in March and April, 1918 were engaged in the big German offensive.

      Towards the end of April I contracted trench fever and returned to England, 
   having spent part of my time in France as Platoon Commander and part as Battalion 
   Signalling officer. On discharge from hospital I was posted to the 1/1 N.C.B. at 
   Alnwick where I remained until December, 1918. I was then sent to the 4th Reserve  

   Battalion, Northumberland Fusiliers, at Hornsea, Yorks., whence I was demobbed in  

   January, 1919.

      WHITE, G.A. 6 Witham Road Boston. Killed in action. 

      WHITE, George Thomas, 2 Dock View, Tweedmouth.
      Enlisted October 20th, 1914. Left N.C.B. early in 1915. Was one of the 
   winners of the Whitley bay six and a-half miles cross-country runs. Left Alnwick 
   for France 1916. Saw service at Vimy Ridge and on the Somme. Demobilised 
   January, 1919.
      WILKINSON, Corporal Tom Firbank, West Hartlepool. 

      Enlisted N.C.B. February 10th, 1914, coming to the 2/1 Battalion February 
   10th, 1915. Promoted Lance-Corpl. May, 1915, and Corporal July, 1917. Played 
   football for F and C Companies.

      July 24th, 1917, transferred to 1/5 Lancashire Fusiliers after being attached  

   Northumberland Fusiliers at Base. Ypres September, 1917; Nieuport October-
   November; La Basse November-February, March, 1918: Bussy, March-August, 
   finishing up near Maubeuge, November. Mentioned Battalion Orders after March 
   offensive. Attached 62nd Division as Lewis Gun Instructor, July, 1918. IV 
   Corps Headquarters January-February, 1919. Demobilised 7th March, 1919.

      It is with the deepest sorrow that I have to record the death of Corpl. 
   Wilkinson in February, 1920. 
      WILSON, T., Old Colliery, Scremerston, Berwick-on-Tweed.
   ------------   

      WOOD, Robert Cecil, 15 St. James Street, Newcastle-on-Tyne.

      Enlisted N.C.B. October 9th, 1914. Battalion Bugler. Left Battalion on 
   February 19th, 1917, for Army Cyclist Corps. Fought on Ypres Sector at St. Julien,   

   Hollebeke and Pachendale.

   ------------   

      WOOD, Richard, Foul Ford, Berwick-on-Tweed.
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